THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

MAY 01 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No. 2016-CP-10-1629

Appellate Case No. 2017-000024

Senior Ride Connection, f/k/a ITNCharleston Trident, .....Appellant,

v.

ITNAmerica .....Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

K&L GATES LLP  
Jennifer H. Thiem  
134 Meeting Street, Suite 500  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 579-5600  
jennifer.thiem@klgates.com

Attorney for Appellant Senior Ride Connection, f/k/a ITNCharleston Trident

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it allowed ITNAmerica to file its motion to dismiss despite the fact that more than thirty days had passed since the service of the complaint.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it allowed ITNAmerica to move to dismiss for improper venue when that defense was not included in ITNAmerica's initial Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Senior Ride Connection, formerly known as ITNCharlestonTrident (“Senior Ride”), initially brought this action in the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit (“Circuit Court”) alleging illegal contract, breach of contract, and rescission against ITNAmerica on March 31, 2016. (Record \_\_, Verified Compl. ¶¶ 42–65.) ITNAmerica removed the case to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina (“District Court”) and filed a Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. (Record \_\_, Mot. to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss.) Senior Ride moved to remand. (Record \_\_, Plaintiff’s Mot. for Remand and Memo. in Support). On June 30, 2016, the Honorable Richard M. Gergel issued an Order remanding the case to the Circuit Court, and denying ITNAmerica’s Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. (Record \_\_, June 2016 Order.)

Following remand, ITNAmerica filed a second Motion to Dismiss, this time in the Circuit Court. (Record \_\_, Mot. to Dismiss.) In response, Senior Ride filed a Motion to Strike. (Record \_\_, Mot. to Strike.) On September 6, 2016, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. heard oral arguments regarding the Motion to Dismiss and the Motion to Strike. (Record \_\_, September 6, 2016 Hrg. Tr.) On September 26, 2016, Judge Cooper issued an Order Partially Denying ITNAmerica’s Motion to Dismiss. (Record \_\_, Sept. 2016 Order.) The Order granted the portion of ITNAmerica’s Motion to Dismiss seeking to dismiss Senior Ride’s breach of contract claim. (*Id.* at 1–2.) However, it denied ITNAmerica’s attempt to have the remainder of the case dismissed for improper venue. (*Id.* at 1.)

Following Judge Cooper’s Order, ITNAmerica filed a Motion for Partial Reconsideration. (Record \_\_, Mot. for Partial Reconsid.) On December 2, 2016, Judge Cooper issued an Order granting that Motion and dismissing the case under the doctrine of *forum non*

*conveniens*, on the grounds that the parties' forum selection clause required the dispute be litigated in Maine. (Record \_\_, Dec. 2016 Order.) On January 5, 2017, Senior Ride served the Notice of Appeal on ITNAmerica.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Senior Ride is a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina and registered with the South Carolina Secretary of State on December 28, 2004. (Record \_\_, Verified Compl. ¶ 1.) Respondent ITNAmerica is a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Maine and registered with the Maine Secretary of State on February 2, 2004. (*Id.* ¶ 2.) Appellant and Respondent are parties to an ITNAmerica Affiliate Agreement (“Affiliate Agreement”) that is the subject of this lawsuit. (*Id.* ¶ 3.)

Senior Ride began operating in 2004 and learned of ITNAmerica shortly thereafter at a “Best Practices” program. (*Id.* ¶ 8.) At the time ITNAmerica was beginning to recruit affiliates, and the parties began discussions regarding Senior Ride becoming an affiliate of ITNAmerica. (Record \_\_, Mot. to Strike at 3.) Believing ITNAmerica could offer it benefits, Senior Ride entered into an Affiliate Agreement with ITNAmerica. (*Id.*) Soon after becoming an Affiliate, Senior Ride quickly became dissatisfied with the services and technology offered by ITNAmerica and the ever-increasing fees requested by ITNAmerica for these services and technology. (*Id.*) Senior Ride worked with ITNAmerica to resolve these issues before ultimately making the decision to disassociate from ITNAmerica. (*Id.*)

Having seen how ITNAmerica had resisted efforts by other affiliates to disassociate, Senior Ride initially filed an action against ITNAmerica on December 8, 2015 in the South Carolina Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit in order to terminate the Affiliate

Agreement. (Record \_\_, Compl.) ITNAmerica removed the case to the District Court and sought have the case dismissed, or in the alternative, transferred to the United States District Court for the District of Maine. (Record \_\_, Defendant ITNAmerica's Mot. to Dismiss or in the Alternative Transfer.) Senior Ride voluntarily dismissed that action without prejudice before filing the present action. (Record \_\_, Plaintiff's Notice of Dismissal without Prejudice.)

After dismissing the first action, Senior Ride filed this action on March 31, 2016. (Record \_\_, Verified Compl.) ITNAmerica removed the case to the District Court and filed a Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. (Record \_\_, Mot. to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss.) The portion of the Motion seeking transfer of venue was based upon 28 USC § 1404(a). (*Id.* at 3.) In contrast, the part of the Motion seeking dismissal was brought pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, and only attacked one of three causes of action. (*Id.* at 6.) Specifically, the portion of the Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) was premised upon ITNAmerica's argument that Senior Ride's breach of contract claim was unsupportable because there were no damages. (*Id.* ("In addition to being filed in an improper forum, Senior Ride Connection's claim for breach of contract should be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) because it has specifically disavowed any claim for contract damages.")) There was no motion to dismiss brought under any other part of Rule 12(b).

During the pendency of the Motion, Senior Ride moved to remand. (Record \_\_, Plaintiff's Mot. for Remand and Memo. in Support.) Senior Ride's Motion for Remand was premised on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction because of an insufficient amount-in-controversy. (*Id.* at 1.) On June 30, 2016, the Honorable Richard M. Gergel issued an order remanding the case to the Circuit Court, holding that the amount-in-controversy did not meet the

\$75,000 threshold. (Record \_\_\_, June 2016 Order at 11.) In that same order, Judge Gergel denied ITNAmerica's Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. (*Id.*)

Following remand and denial of its Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss, ITNAmerica filed a Motion to Dismiss on July 21, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, Mot. to Dismiss.) Although the original Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss only sought 1) transfer under 28 USC § 1404(a) and 2) dismissal of Senior Ride's breach of contract claim under Rule 12(b)(6), the subsequent Motion to Dismiss sought relief under the whole of Rule 12(b) and the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. (See Record \_\_\_, Mot. to Transfer or to Dismiss; Record \_\_\_, Mot. to Dismiss.) Because ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss attempted to expand the scope of the original Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss, Senior Ride brought a Motion to Strike. (Mot. to Strike at 1.) Judge Cooper heard oral arguments on both Motions on September 6, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, September 6, 2016 Hearing Transcript.) On September 28, 2016, Judge Cooper issued an Order partially granting and partially denying ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss. (Record \_\_\_, September 2016 Order at 1.) The order granted ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss Senior Ride's breach of contract claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). (*Id.* at 1–2.) However, the Order denied ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss on other Rule 12(b) grounds. (*Id.* at 1.)

In response to the September 2016 Order, ITNAmerica filed a Motion for Partial Reconsideration. (Record \_\_\_, Mot. for Partial Reconsideration at 1.) In that Motion, ITNAmerica argued that the entire case should be dismissed pursuant to the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* because of the forum selection clause found in the Affiliate Agreement. (*Id.* at 1–2.) That Motion was followed by additional briefing from both parties. Then, on December 28, 2016, Judge Cooper reversed his September 2016 Order and granted ITNAmerica's Motion for Partial Reconsideration. (Record \_\_\_, Dec. 2016 Order at 1.) Consequently, the December

2016 Order dismissed the remainder of this action pursuant to the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. (*Id.*)

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Circuit Court Erred When It Allowed ITNAmerica to File its Motion to Dismiss After the Deadline to File a Responsive Pleading Had Expired.**

This first issue on appeal is whether the Circuit Court erred when it allowed ITNAmerica to file its Motion to Dismiss, despite the fact that the time period for ITNAmerica to file a motion or a responsive pleading had already passed. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provide clear guidelines for when a defendant in a civil action must either answer a complaint or assert a defense by motion. Because ITNAmerica failed to do either within the allotted time--and only filed its Motion to Dismiss after time had expired--Senior Ride sought to have ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss struck. The Circuit Court therefore erred when it granted the Motion to Dismiss and denied Senior Ride's Motion to Strike.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (the "Rules") establish a series of timelines for filing motions and responsive pleadings in a civil action. Under Rule 12(a), SCRPC, a defendant has 30 days after service of the complaint to serve his answer. Since Rule 12(b) requires a defendant to assert any one of eight defenses by motion before serving a responsive pleading, any such motion must also be filed before the 30-day window expires. However, the Rules also allow for some extensions of this 30-day window. Rule 6(a), SCRPC, provides that

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules, by order of court, or by any applicable statute, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included. The last day of the period so computed is to be included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or a State or Federal holiday, in which event the period runs until the end of the next day which is neither a Saturday, Sunday nor such holiday.

Additionally, Rule 6(e) allows for a five day extension when “the notice or paper is served upon him by mail or upon a person designated by statute to accept service.” Therefore, the 30-day period can be extended by five days if service is by mail, and by three days if the period would then end on a federal holiday that is also a Friday, or a Saturday followed by a federal holiday on Monday, for a total of 38 days:

However, if the defendant removes the case to federal court, and then the case is remanded back to the South Carolina court, the deadline also changes. As our own Supreme Court has made clear, removal to a federal court acts as a “suspension” of the state court’s jurisdiction, rather than “divesting” the state court of jurisdiction during the removal process. *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 105, 744 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2013). Because the state court’s jurisdiction never lapses, this suspension merely “tolls the time period for filing responsive pleadings.” *Id.* at 112–13, 744 S.E.2d 576–77. Thus, “once the case [i]s removed to federal court, the state court’s jurisdiction [i]s suspended or held in abeyance until the case was properly remanded. When the state court resumed jurisdiction, it ha[s] a duty to proceed as though no removal had been attempted.” *Id.* at 112, 744 S.E.2d 577 (quoting *State v. Columbia Ry., Gas & Elec. Co.*, 112 S.C. 528, 537, 100 S.E. 355, 357 (1919)) (internal quotations omitted).

Additionally, the *Limehouse* Court held that “the federal court is not divested of jurisdiction until the remand order, citing the proper basis under § 1447(c), is certified and mailed by the clerk of the district court.” *Id.* at 108, 744 S.E.2d 574. Therefore, although the time period required for answering or filing a Rule 12(b) motion is tolled once the case is removed to federal court, that period resumes once the certified copy of the remand order is mailed. *Limehouse* makes clear that there is “no authority in this state to support [the] position that a removing party is entitled to a fresh thirty days to answer a Complaint upon remand.” *Id.* 112,

744 S.E.2d 576. In other words, although removal and remand toll the time requirement of Rule 12, the defendant gets no additional time to file his motion or responsive pleading once the state court's jurisdiction resumes.<sup>1</sup>

Here Senior Ride's Complaint was served on March 31, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, Aff. of Service.) ITNAmerica removed the case to the District Court on April 29, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, Notice of Removal). The certified copy of the Remand Order was mailed on July 1, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, June 2016 Order). ITNAmerica removed the case to the District Court twenty-nine days after the Complaint was served. Since the case was removed, the deadline for filing the Answer was tolled. Thus, when the certified copy of the Remand Order was mailed on July 1, 2016, the 30-day period resumed. Since the Remand Order was mailed, the time period was extended by five days, and as a result, ITNAmerica had until July 7, 2016.<sup>2</sup> ITNAmerica failed to

---

<sup>1</sup> In the proceedings below, ITNAmerica argued that after remand, the deadline to file a motion to dismiss was extended to July 26, 2016, and therefore the Motion to Dismiss was timely when filed on July 21, 2016. (Record \_\_\_, ITNAmerica's Opp. to Mot. to Strike at 2.) ITNAmerica based this conclusion on the 15 day extension that Rule 12(a)(1) provides after a motion is resolved and the five day mailing extension in Rule 6(e). (*Id.*) Rule 12(a)(1) reads as follows: "if the Court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 15 days after notice of the Court's action." Rule 12(a)(1) creates the situation that when a party's Rule 12 motion is denied, the party gets an additional 15 days after the court denies the motion to file an answer. *See Beckham v. Durant*, 300 S.C. 329, 334, 387 S.E.2d 701, 704 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding that if the defendant had actually filed a Rule 12(b) motion "prior to expiration of the thirty day answering period, she would have had fifteen days from the date of notice of the court's ruling on the matter" to file an answer). Under ITNAmerica's reading, after a motion to dismiss is denied, Rule 12(a)(1) grants the party that filed the motion a 15 day extension to file another, successive motion to dismiss, *ab infinitum*. The Rules do not allow for such an absurd result. As will be discussed more fully below, such a result would also be in direct conflict with the requirement that all Rule 12 motions be consolidated into one. After this case was remanded to state court, Rule 12(a)(1) granted ITNAmerica additional time to file an answer. However, per the text of Rule 12 and the holding in *Limehouse*, if ITNAmerica wanted to refile its Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss with the Circuit Court, it had to do so within the original time limits, with the only modification being that the filing deadline was tolled until the state court's jurisdiction resumed after remand.

<sup>2</sup> The Remand Order was mailed on July 1, 2016, but it was not filed until July 6, 2016. In *Limehouse*, the Court holds 1) state court jurisdiction resumes when the district court clerk mails the certified remand order, 404 S.C. 108, 744 S.E.2d 574; and 2) and time limits are tolled while the state court's jurisdiction is suspended, *Id.* at 112-13, 744 S.E.2d 576-77. This would imply that tolling ends when the certified copy is mailed. However in *Limehouse*, the lower court calculated the deadline from date when the remand order was filed, not when it was mailed. *Id.* at 115, 744 S.E.2d 578, note 10. The Supreme Court does not directly address which calculation method is correct. The Court in *Limehouse* also raises the question of whether the 5-day extension is warranted but fails to decide either way. *Id.* at 115, 744 S.E.2d 578. Depending on how *Limehouse* is applied, the deadline could be calculated in three additional ways: 1) if tolling ends on the day the remand order is mailed, with no five day mailing extension, then

file anything with the Circuit Court until July 21, 2016, a total of 14 days after the deadline had expired.

Since ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss was not filed until July 21, 2016, the Motion to Dismiss should have been struck as directly in violation of the deadlines imposed by Rules 6 and 12. As a result, the Circuit Court erred when it instead granted ITNAmerica's Motion to Dismiss and dismissed this case in its entirety.

**II. The Circuit Court Erred When It Allowed ITNAmerica to Move to Dismiss for Improper Venue When That Defense Was Not Included in ITNAmerica's Initial Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss.**

The next issue in this appeal is whether the Circuit Court erred when it allowed ITNAmerica to move to dismiss for improper venue, pursuant to Rule 12(b) and the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*, despite the fact that ITNAmerica did not include that defense in its initial Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. If this Court were to find that ITNAmerica's time to file a motion or responsive pleading had not expired before July 21, 2016, ITNAmerica was nonetheless limited in the content of its Motion to Dismiss. Because Rule 12 requires that all Rule 12 defenses be consolidated into one motion or otherwise be waived, ITNAmerica waived its right to bring a Rule 12(b)(3) motion to dismiss for improper venue when it failed to include that defense in its Motion to Transfer Venue or to Dismiss. Therefore, the Circuit Court erred when it permitted ITNAmerica to add the defense of improper venue to its Motion to Dismiss.

---

the deadline would be July 2, which would then be moved to July 5 because of the weekend and the July 4 holiday; 2) if tolling ends on the day the remand order is filed, with no 5-day mailing extension, then the deadline would be July 6; or 3) if tolling ends on the day the remand order is filed, with a 5-day mailing extension, then the deadline would be July 11. No matter how the deadline is calculated, ITNAmerica failed to file a responsive pleading before the deadline.

Rule 12, SCRPC, governs how and when defenses and objections are presented in pleadings and motions.<sup>3</sup> Rule 12(b) provides for a series of defenses that may be asserted by motion prior to filing a responsive pleading. Among those defenses, Rule 12(b)(3) permits a party to bring a motion to dismiss for “improper venue.” Rule 12(b)(6) permits a party to bring a motion to dismiss for “failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.”

Rule 12(g) makes clear that multiple defenses, including all defenses under Rule 12(b), may be combined in a single motion. Rule 12(g) expressly states that “a party who makes a motion under this rule may join with it any other motions herein provided for and then available to him.” However, the next sentence provides the following:

If a party makes a motion under this rule but omits therefrom any defense or objection then available to him which this rule permits to be raised by motion, *he shall not thereafter make a motion based on the defense or objection omitted*, except a motion as provided in subdivision (h)(2) hereof on any of the grounds there stated.

Rule 12(g), SCRPC (emphasis added). Thus Rule 12(g) has two components: 1) it permits a party to bring all its Rule 12 defenses together as one motion, and 2) absent certain exceptions, it prevents any defense that is omitted from the initial Rule 12 from being brought at a later time. *See Glenn v. Sch. Dist. No. Five of Anderson Cty.*, 294 S.C. 530, 534, 366 S.E.2d 47, 49 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding that Rule 12(g) requires all Rule 12(b) defenses be brought in one motion, but that defendant was not barred from amending its answer to include a statute of limitations defense that was not included in its Rule 12 Motion because that defenses is not listed in Rule 12(b)).

---

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