THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000024
Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-1629

Senior Ride Connection f/k/a ITNCharleston Trident..... Appellant,

v.

ITNAmerica,..... Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, LLP

Kevin A. Hall
M. Todd Carroll
1727 Hampton Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 454-6504

Attorneys for Respondent ITNAmerica

May 26, 2017

RECEIVED
MAY 30 2017
SC Court of Appeals

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

² ITNAmerica received written notice of entry of Judge Cooper's initial ruling on its motion to dismiss on October 5, 2016, rendering its Rule 59(e) motion timely. (Order at 3 n.1 (entered Dec. 28, 2016); R. p. ____.)

Judge Gergel unambiguously denied ITNAmerica’s then-pending motion to dismiss and transfer “as moot” because the federal court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider this case. (Order of the D.S.C. at 11; R. p. ____.) As he explained: “Because the Court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over this matter, it cannot reach Plaintiff’s motion to transfer, which is made moot by remand to state court.” (*Id.*)

Despite the clarity of Judge Gergel’s decision, Senior Ride Connection argues on appeal that ITNAmerica was somehow prohibited from renewing its arguments before the state court once the case was remanded. The Court should reject Senior Ride Connection’s arguments, which are misleading on the facts, incorrect on the law, and not even preserved for appellate review. Instead, it should affirm Judge Cooper’s enforcement of the parties’ forum-selection clause, which is reinforced—and even compelled—by the United States Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Atlantic Marine Construction Co. v. United States District Court*, 134 S. Ct. 568 (2013), as explained below.

I. ITNAmerica timely moved to dismiss Senior Ride Connection’s complaint.

A. Senior Ride Connection’s timeliness argument is barred by the law-of-the-case doctrine because it failed to appeal Judge Cooper’s initial order that dismissed part of this case.

Senior Ride Connection’s lead argument on appeal is that ITNAmerica did not timely renew its motion to dismiss with the state court. This is not so, but the Court does not need to even address this issue because it is not preserved for appellate review.

It is hornbook law that an unappealed ruling is not reviewable and becomes the law of the case. *See, e.g., Ramirez v. State*, 419 S.C. 14, 22 n.7, 795 S.E.2d 841, 845 n.7 (2017) (“Since neither party appealed the court’s holding on this issue, it is the law of the case.”); *Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 281, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014) (explaining that the law-of-the-

case doctrine renders decisions unreviewable, “right or wrong”). As former Chief Justice Toal’s treatise summarizes:

It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling. Failure to challenge the ruling is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal. An unappealed order, right or wrong, is considered the law of the case.

Jean Hoefer Toal, *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 214 (3d ed. 2016) (collecting numerous South Carolina cases; internal citations omitted).

The law-of-the-case doctrine precludes consideration of Senior Ride Connection’s “timeliness” argument because Senior Ride Connection has not appealed Judge Cooper’s first order dismissing its breach of contract claim. That order, entered on September 28, 2016, partially granted ITNAmerica’s motion to dismiss despite Senior Ride Connection’s argument that the motion was untimely and should have been stricken. (Order at 2 (entered Sept. 28, 2016); R. p. ____.)³ But Senior Ride Connection sought neither reconsideration nor appellate review of that order. (Notice of Appeal; R. p. ____.)

Because Judge Cooper’s rejection of Senior Ride Connection’s timeliness argument has not been appealed, it is the law of the case and is not reviewable. *Ramirez*, 419 S.C. at 22 n.7, 795 S.E.2d at 845 n.7. Accordingly, the Court should reject Senior Ride Connection’s core argument and affirm the trial court’s rulings.

³ While Judge Cooper did not expressly deny Senior Ride Connection’s motion to strike in this order, he indisputably rejected the argument because he partially granted ITNAmerica’s motion to dismiss over Senior Ride Connection’s objection that the motion to dismiss was untimely. The law-of-the-case doctrine applies with equal force to such a ruling. *See, e.g., Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 62, 492 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1997) (“The law of the case applies both to those issues explicitly decided and to those issues which were necessarily decided in the former case.”).

B. Regardless of which procedural rules apply, ITNAmerica timely renewed its motion to dismiss following remand to the state court.

Even if the Court finds that Senior Ride Connection's argument is properly preserved for appellate review, it should still reject the suggestion that ITNAmerica untimely renewed its motion to dismiss after the case was remanded back to the state court.

In its opening brief, Senior Ride Connection identifies July 7 or July 11, 2016, as ITNAmerica's deadline for filing its responsive pleading. (*Compare* Senior Ride Connection's Br. at 8 (calculating the deadline to be July 7, 2016) *with id.* at 9 n.2 (calculating the deadline to be July 11, 2016).) Under both of its calculations, Senior Ride Connection ignores the fact that ITNAmerica filed a Rule 12 motion while the case was pending before the federal court. (*Id.* at 6–9.) Indeed, Senior Ride Connection's entire timeliness argument is based on the theory that ITNAmerica's 30-day period to file an answer was suspended when it removed the case to federal court, and that same 30-day period was reactivated from the point of suspension the moment the federal court remanded the case back to state court.⁴

This theory, however, is belied by the facts and the governing procedural rules. There is no dispute that ITNAmerica timely filed a motion to dismiss in the federal court, a filing that eliminated the very 30-day deadline on which Senior Ride Connection has exclusively based its argument. Once the case was remanded to the state court, ITNAmerica timely renewed its motion. The relevant dates and their corresponding procedural rules are detailed in the chart on the following page:

⁴ Contrary to its arguments before this Court, Senior Ride Connection actually acknowledged to the trial court that ITNAmerica had an extended period of time to make its next filing following Judge Gergel's denial of the initial motion to dismiss. (Motion to Strike at 4 n.4; R. p. ____.) This is in direct contrast to Senior Ride Connection's appellate argument that the initial 30-day response period resumed once the case was remanded.

Timeline of Litigation

| <u>Date</u> | <u>Litigation Activity</u> | <u>Legal Authority for Timing of Activity</u> |
|-----------------------|---|--|
| March 31, 2016 | Senior Ride Connection files complaint (R. p. ____) | |
| April 29, 2016 | ITNAmerica files and serves notice of removal (R. p. ____) | 28 U.S.C. § 1446 (allows 30 days from receipt of complaint to remove case) |
| May 4, 2016 | ITNAmerica files and serves motion to dismiss in federal court (R. p. ____) | Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 81(c)(2)(C) (allows 7 days after notice of removal is filed to file responsive pleading/Rule 12 motion); and Rule 12(a)(4) (filing of a Rule 12 motion suspends the time to file an answer) |
| June 30, 2016 | Federal court remands case and denies motion as moot (R. p. ____) | |
| July 1, 2016 | Judge Gergel's chambers emails certified copy of remand order to Charleston County Clerk of Court (R. p. ____) | 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (directing the federal court to send a certified copy of the remand order to the state court) |
| July 5, 2016 | Charleston County Clerk of Court enters remand order (R. p. ____) | 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (authorizing the state court to proceed with a case after it receives through the mail a certified copy of the remand order) |
| July 6, 2016 | Charleston County Clerk of Court mails notice of entry of remand order to the parties (R. p. ____) | Rule 77(d), SCRCP |
| Monday, July 18, 2016 | ITNAmerica renews its motion to dismiss by filing it in state court and serving it on Senior Ride Connection (R. p. ____) | <p><u>Federal Rules of Civil Procedure:</u> Rule 12(a)(4)(A) (allows 14 days to make an additional filing after a Rule 12 motion has been denied); Rule 6(d) (allows 3 additional days when notice is provided by electronic means); and Rule 6(a)(1)(C) (deadline moves to the next business day if it falls on a weekend or holiday)</p> <p><u>South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure:</u> Rule 12(a)(1) (allows 15 days to make an additional filing after a Rule 12 motion has been denied); and Rule 6(e) (allows 5 additional days when notice is provided by mail)</p> <p><u>South Carolina E-Filing Policies and Guidelines</u> Section 4(e)(4) (allows 5 additional days when notice is provided by electronic means)</p> |

The federal court's denial as moot of ITNAmerica's initial motion to dismiss altered the timeline for ITNAmerica's next filing. It makes no difference whether the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure governed ITNAmerica's next procedural step because ITNAmerica timely renewed its motion under either set of rules:

- Both the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provide a period of time for a party to serve its next filing after a Rule 12 motion has been denied: the Federal Rules allow 14 days, and the South Carolina Rules allow 15 days. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(4) (2017); Rule 12(a), SCRCF.⁵
- Both sets of rules also build in additional time when a party is notified of a ruling by mail, either electronic or hard copy. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(d) (2016) (allowing three extra days to respond when a party is served via electronic means or United States mail); Rule 6(e), SCRCF (allowing five extra days to respond when a party is served via United States mail); Section 4(e)(4), SCEF (allowing five extra days to respond when a party is served via electronic means).⁶
- And both sets of rules move a deadline to the next business day when the deadline lands on a weekend or holiday. Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(a)(1)(C) (2017); Rule 6(a), SCRCF.

Federal Rules: Assuming that the clock began running on June 30, 2016, when Judge Gergel denied ITNAmerica's initial motion as moot but before the state court's jurisdiction had been reactivated, ITNAmerica's earliest possible time to renew its motion was as follows:

ITNAmerica's Service Deadline Under Federal Rules

| | |
|------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| June 30, 2016 | Remand Order Entered in Federal Court |
| <u>+ 14 days</u> | Federal Rule 12(a)(4) |
| July 14, 2016 | |
| <u>+ 3 days</u> | Federal Rule 6(d) |
| July 17, 2016 | |
| <u>+1 day</u> | Federal Rule 6(a)(1)(C) |
| Monday, July 18, 2016 | New Deadline |

⁵ Again, when making its arguments to the trial court, Senior Ride Connection acknowledged this additional time for ITNAmerica's next filing. (Motion to Strike at 4 n.4; R. p. ____.)

⁶ Federal Rule 6(d) was amended effective December 1, 2016, to eliminate the additional time when service is affected via electronic means, though this amendment is irrelevant to calculating ITNAmerica's pre-December 1, 2016 deadline here. Section 4(e)(4) of South Carolina's E-Filing Rules still provides five extra days for responding when service is completed electronically.

South Carolina Rules: Assuming, on the other hand, that the clock began running on July 1, 2016, when Judge Gergel’s chambers emailed a copy of his order denying ITNAmerica’s motion to dismiss as moot to the Charleston County Clerk of Court—the first moment that the state court’s jurisdiction could have been reactivated under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) and the South Carolina Supreme Court’s construction of that statute in *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013)⁷—ITNAmerica’s earliest possible time to renew its motion was as follows:

ITNAmerica’s Service Deadline Under South Carolina Rules

| | |
|--|---|
| <p>July 1, 2016 <u>+ 15 days</u> July 16, 2016 <u>+5 days</u> Thursday, July 21, 2016</p> | <p>Remand Order Received by State Court Rule 12(a), SCRCP</p> <p>Rule 6(e), SCRCP/Section 4(e)(4), SCEF New Deadline</p> |
|--|---|

ITNAmerica timely served its renewed motion to dismiss **on Monday, July 18, 2016**, on or before any potential deadline. (Motion to Dismiss at “Certificate of Service”; R. p. ____.)⁸ The Court should reject Senior Ride Connection’s timeliness argument accordingly.

⁷ In *Limehouse*, the Supreme Court stated in *dicta* that the state court’s jurisdiction resumes when it “received the federal court’s certified remand order.” 404 S.C. at 117, 744 S.E.2d at 579. Here, the record is unclear as to when the Charleston County Clerk of Court actually received the remand order, but the record does indicate that the remand order was emailed on July 1, 2016. (Email from Sandra Shealy (July 1, 2016); R. p. ____.) The calculation detailed above assumes without conceding that (1) the Charleston County Clerk of Court received the federal court’s email the same day it was sent, and (2) an email can satisfy the transmission requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) to reactivate a state court’s jurisdiction. Notably, the deadline for the defendant’s responsive pleading in *Limehouse* is fundamentally different than ITNAmerica’s here because that defendant never filed anything while the case was before the federal court, but ITNAmerica filed a Rule 12 motion. 404 S.C. at 97–98, 744 S.E.2d at 569.

⁸ Notably, Senior Ride Connection never filed an affidavit of default, a motion for default judgment, or anything else that would preempt ITNAmerica’s ability to renew its motion to dismiss. And, of course, the trial court has discretion to extend deadlines if a doubt ever arises, and there is certainly no suggestion of an abuse of discretion here. *See generally* Rule 6, SCRCP; *Beckham v. Durant*, 300 S.C. 329, 332, 387 S.E.2d 701, 703 (Ct. App. 1989) (reminding that the decision to enlarge a deadline “is within the discretion of the trial judge”).

C. Because the federal court denied ITNAmerica’s initial motion to dismiss as moot, rather than on its merits, ITNAmerica was entitled to renew its motion once the case was remanded to state court.

In a footnote, Senior Ride Connection argues that it would be “absurd” to allow ITNAmerica to “file another, successive motion to dismiss, *ad infinitum*” after the federal court denied ITNAmerica’s initial motion to dismiss. (Senior Ride Connection’s Br. at 8 n.1.) This position assumes that the first motion to dismiss was resolved on its merits, and that ITNAmerica was merely reiterating a motion that had already been conclusively ruled on. This is entirely incorrect.

Judge Gergel could not have been clearer that the federal court took no position regarding ITNAmerica’s motion to dismiss because it did not have jurisdiction to address the motion: “Because the Court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over this matter, it cannot reach Plaintiff’s motion to transfer, which is made moot by remand to state court.” (Order of the D.S.C. at 11; R. p. ____.) When ITNAmerica renewed its motion before the state court, it was still seeking the first ruling on the merits of its arguments.

In such circumstances, Rule 12 does not prohibit a moving party from renewing a motion to dismiss that was previously denied for reasons other than the merits. If Senior Ride Connection’s argument were adopted, a plaintiff could evade dismissal of a defective case by filing a complaint, baiting a defendant into filing a Rule 12 motion, and then amending the complaint as a matter of right under Rule 15(a). The amended complaint would moot the pending Rule 12 motion, but—under Senior Ride Connection’s argument—the defendant would be helpless to renew its motion and, instead, would be forced into litigating a flawed case without ever having its Rule 12 motion considered on its merits.

This is not the law, and courts have rejected Senior Ride Connection's exact argument. *See, e.g., Kilopass Tech. Inc. v. Sidense Corp.*, Case No. C10-02066 SI, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136345, at *5–8 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 13, 2010) (explaining that the defendant properly filed a second motion to dismiss because a prior court order “did not deny defendant’s first motion to dismiss on the merits, but rather dismissed it as moot”); *Crestmont Cleveland P’ship v. Ohio Dep’t of Health*, 746 N.E.2d 222, 226 (Ohio Ct. App. 2000) (“Likewise, Civil Rules 12(G) and (H) do not prohibit the filing of the two motions to dismiss under the circumstances of this case. Civil Rules 12(G) and (H), in general, prohibit the filing of successive motions under Civil Rule 12(B). The trial court’s finding that the initial motion to dismiss was moot and its failure to rule on the merits renders Civil Rules 12(G) and (H) inapplicable.”).

The Court should do the same and reject this final aspect of Senior Ride Connection’s timeliness argument.

II. ITNAmerica properly sought, and Judge Cooper properly granted, dismissal pursuant to the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*.

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